RECEIVED

Nov 26 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland

Case No. 2021-CP-40-05596
Appellate Case No. 2025-000448

Kim Enterprises, LLC,

Respondent,

v.

Youmi Cho, K&C Beauty, LLC, and Sang Cho,

Appellants,

AND

Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

Kim Enterprises LLC and Tok Kim,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Tok Kim knew that Youmi Cho's attorney was drafting a contract for the Beauty Store sale. Tok Kim admits to signing the Bill of Sale that references the Asset Purchase Agreement four times but claims his signature on the Asset Purchase Agreement is fake. A handwriting expert testified Tok Kim's signature is consistent with other known samples. Did the lower court err in concluding that Kim Enterprises met its burden of proof to establish a fraudulent signature based on Tok Kim's testimony alone?
- II. The lower court found that the Beauty Store was sold based on an oral contract requiring a down payment and three years of monthly payments. The only signed writing relied on by Kim Enterprises to evidence the terms of the agreement were checks that did not indicate the contract's subject matter, the parties, the item being sold, the price, or the payment terms. Did the lower court's enforcement of the oral contract violate the Statute of Frauds?
- III. Sang Cho was Kim Enterprises' Beauty Store manager. Sang Cho did not purchase the Beauty Store and only participated in a limited portion of one meeting between the buyer and seller. Kim Enterprises did not prove that Sang Cho competed with it, or misappropriated profits, property, or business opportunities. Based on these facts, did the lower court err in concluding that Sang Cho breached a fiduciary duty owed to Kim Enterprises?
- IV. Did the lower court err in awarding punitive damages when it did not first evaluate the required statutory and common law factors for awarding punitive damages?
- V. Where Kim Enterprises sold the Beauty Store to K&C Beauty on December 14, 2020, did the lower court err in not reducing the judgment by Beauty Store net profits kept by Kim Enterprises between December 15, 2020, and March 7, 2021?
- VI. Where K&C Beauty possessed a signed contract for the sale of the Beauty Store, did the lower court err in admitting and relying on parol evidence to contradict the terms of the signed contract where the court did not first make a finding that the signed contract was ambiguous or fraudulent?

INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December 2020, K&C Beauty, LLC purchased a retail beauty supply store located at 3315 Broad River Road in Columbia, South Carolina (the “Beauty Store”) from Kim Enterprises, LLC. Youmi Cho is the controlling member of K&C Beauty and her uncle Tok Kim is the controlling member of Kim Enterprises. Youmi Cho originally came to the United States in 2019 on a temporary visa, and, after discussions with her uncle Tok Kim about buying one or more of his beauty stores, she decided to sell her apartment in Korea to raise funds to purchase the Beauty Store and apply to stay in the United States on a more permanent basis.

Youmi Cho hired attorney Andy Kim to assist her with the visa process and Attorney Kim provided Youmi Cho with an Asset Purchase Agreement and Bill of Sale for the parties to execute reflecting a \$250,000 purchase price. The executed contract along with proof of the \$250,000 purchase were provided to the government as part of Youmi Cho’s visa application.

In the spring of 2021, several months after the December purchase, Tok Kim approached Youmi Cho and pressured her into giving him an additional series of thirty-six signed but undated \$15,000 checks for what he told her was a good faith business gesture to purchase two of his other stores. Tok Kim cashed four of these checks for \$60,000 before Youmi Cho stopped payment in September 2021, concerned that there was no written agreement for the purchase of the other two stores. (R. p. 840, lines 1-24, p. 841, line 4-p. 842, line 2, p. 900, lines 1-23, p. 901, line 10-p. 903, line 5). Tok Kim then filed suit, maintaining that these additional checks were part of the original purchase price of the Beauty Store of \$800,000 not \$250,000, and that his signature on the Asset Purchase Agreement was a fake. Youmi Cho has always contended that the purchase price of the Beauty Store was

\$250,000, as reflected in the parties’ written contract and the \$250,000 cashier’s check paid to Tok Kim in December 2020.

Pleadings

In its original complaint filed in November 2021, Kim Enterprises asserted a single cause of action against K&C Beauty for breach of contract over the disputed sale price of the Beauty Store. (R. p. 31 (Compl. ¶¶ 12-17)). Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty asserted counterclaims, contending that Kim Enterprises and Tok Kim wrongfully withheld Beauty Store profits after the sale and that Kim Enterprises transferred unsaleable inventory that had to be thrown away. (R. p. 40 (Ans. & Counterclaim ¶¶ 50, 52)).

Almost two years later, in September 2023, Kim Enterprises amended its complaint and asserted eight new causes of action, now for the first time dragging Youmi Cho’s brother Sang Cho into the lawsuit.

#	Kim Enterprises - Cause of Action	Defendant(s)
1	Breach of Contract	Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty
2	Breach of Contract Accompanied by Fraudulent Act	Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty
3	Fraud	Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty
4	Conversion	Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty
5	Unjust Enrichment	Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty
6	Breach of Fiduciary Duty	Sang Cho
7	Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty	Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty
8	Civil Conspiracy	Youmi Cho and Sang Cho
9	Tortious interference with Contractual Relations	Sang Cho

K&C Beauty and Youmi Cho asserted the following counterclaims:

#	K&C Beauty - Causes of Action	Counterclaim Defendant(s)
1	Breach of Contract	Kim Enterprises
2	Conversion	Kim Enterprises and Tok Kim
3	Breach of Contract Accompanied by Fraudulent Act	Kim Enterprises and Tok Kim
4	Money Had and Received	Kim Enterprises and Tok Kim

Trial

A bench trial took place in Columbia over four days on October 21-24, 2024. At the conclusion of Respondent's presentation of evidence, Appellants moved for directed verdict on all of Respondent's causes of action and the trial court granted a partial directed verdict on Respondent's claims as follows:

#	Kim Enterprises - Cause of Action	Directed Verdict
1	Breach of Contract	Denied
2	Breach of Contract Accompanied by Fraudulent Act	Denied
3	Fraud	Granted
4	Conversion	Granted
5	Unjust Enrichment	Denied
6	Breach of Fiduciary Duty	Denied
7	Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary Duty	Denied
8	Civil Conspiracy	Granted
9	Tortious interference with Contractual Relations	Granted

(R. p. 1003, line 1-p. 1021, line 14). Appellants renewed their motion for directed verdict on the remaining causes of action at the close of evidence. (R. p. 1158, line 19-p. 1159, line 9).

On February 6, 2025, the trial court entered an Order in favor of Respondent on all remaining causes action and denied relief on all of Appellants' causes of action, concluding that Tok Kim's signature on the \$250,000 Asset Purchase Agreement was a digitally imposed. (R. p. 18 (Order ¶ 49), p. 27 (Order ¶79)). The Order issued judgment against Appellants in favor of Respondent in the amount of \$874,549.32, which included a punitive damages award of \$245,000. (R. p. 27 (Order ¶¶ 82-83)).

On February 17, 2025, Appellants filed numerous post-trial motions. A hearing on Appellants' post-trial motions was held on February 25, 2025. At this hearing, during Appellants' argument recounting testimony from Youmi Cho that she witnessed Tok Kim sign the Asset Purchase Agreement, the trial court stopped counsel for Appellants and indicated

that its judgment in favor of Kim Enterprises was based on its understanding of testimony from Youmi Cho that she did not see Tok Kim sign the agreement. (R. p. 1204, line 24-p. 1208, line 22). Appellants then read Youmi Cho's testimony on this point into the record and provided a supplemental brief to the trial court with additional transcript citations showing that Youmi Cho testified she did see Tok Kim sign the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. pp. 364-65). The court did not modify its original order or amend judgment and Appellants' post-trial motions were all denied on March 4, 2025. (R. p. 9 (Post-Trial Motion Order ¶ 3)). Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal on March 6, 2025. (R. p. 373).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Youmi Cho and Sang Cho are siblings, and both were born in the Republic of Korea but lived in different countries for years. (R. p. 861, lines 24-25 (Youmi Cho), p. 703, lines 6-7, p. 704, line 22-p. 705, line 2 (Sang Cho)). Sang Cho came to the United States in the 2000's when he was sixteen years old to live with his aunt and uncle and attend high school. (R. p. 703, line 8-p. 704, line 1). Before coming to the United States, Sang Cho did not speak English, and he still occasionally has trouble fully understanding English. (R. p. 703, line 22-p. 704, line 19). During high school and after graduation, Sang Cho worked in his family jewelry store and then began working for Tok Kim and Kim Enterprises at their beauty stores. (R. p. 705, line 16-p. 706, line 12). Sang Cho continued working for Kim Enterprises as manager of the Beauty Store until it was sold to K&C Beauty in 2020 and he has continued to work at this same location for K&C Beauty. (R. p. 716, lines 7-13).

Youmi Cho's Initial Visit to the United States

In July 2019, Youmi Cho and her children came to the United States on a temporary student visa. (R. p. 783, lines 8-14, p. 861, line 24-p. 862, line 18). Youmi Cho had earned a year sabbatical from her employer for fifteen years of service and also had an unused year of childcare benefits.

(Trial Tr. 405:13-20). Her plan was to stay in the United States for two years so that her children could learn English and be exposed to American schools and culture. (R. p. 865, lines 2-18).

When Youmi Cho first arrived in the United States, she stayed with her uncle Tok Kim and his wife Patricia Kim for a few weeks before finding her own place. (R. p. 865, lines 19-22). During the first few months of being in the United States, Tok Kim asked Youmi Cho to work for him in one of his beauty stores or alternatively to buy one of his beauty stores and permanently relocate to Columbia. (R. p. 866, lines 3-23). Tok Kim brought up the idea of selling Youmi Cho a beauty store on several occasions because he wanted to sell his stores to a Korean family member. (R. p. 574, lines 13-19 (Tok Kim), p. 866, lines 12-25, p. 868, lines 16-25 (Youmi Cho)). On many other occasions, Tok Kim brought up the idea of Youmi Cho buying more than one of his stores. (R. 869, lines 4-7).

Because Covid started shortly after their arrival in the United States, Youmi Cho's children were unable to fully experience formal American education as she had hoped. (R. p. 867, lines 8-17). After discussions with her husband, Youmi Cho decided to explore opportunities to stay more permanently in the United States. (R. p. 867, lines 8-17). This included exploring Tok Kim's offer that she purchase one of his beauty stores. (R. p. 867, line 24-p. 868, line 3).

Sale of Korean Apartment to Invest in Beauty Store

As part of their discussions about selling a beauty store, Tok Kim knew that Youmi Cho owned an apartment in Korea and he asked about its value and the possibility of selling the apartment to purchase his beauty store. (R. p. 868, lines 5-18). Tok Kim seemed generally familiar with the apartment's value and Youmi Cho also gave him her estimate of its value. (R. p. 868, lines 1-15). Tok Kim suggested that Youmi Cho sell her apartment in Korea to buy one of his beauty stores. (R. p. 868, lines 16-18). After considering Tok Kim's suggestion, Youmi Cho

decided to sell her apartment believing, based on their discussions of price, that it would raise enough money for her to purchase the Beauty Store (R. p. 869, lines 17-25). To this end, Youmi Cho and her children made an unplanned return trip to Korea in the summer of 2020 to sell her apartment. (R. 869, line 8-p. 870, line 17). Tok Kim knew that Youmi Cho returned to Korea to sell her apartment to buy the Beauty Store. (R. p. 576, lines 1-6) (Tok Kim)).

In July 2020, Youmi Cho entered into a contract to sell her apartment, which ultimately netted her roughly \$220,000 after paying expenses and debt. (R. p. 871, line 4-p. 873, line 4, pp. 1339-51). The sale finalized in October 2020, after which time Youmi Cho transferred the sale proceeds into the United States to purchase the Beauty Store. (R. p. 873, lines 2-22).

Youmi Cho Returns to the United States & Prepares to Purchase the Beauty Store

While waiting for the apartment sale to finalize, Youmi Cho and her children returned to the United States in August 2020 for the start of the school year. (R. p. 873, line 23-p. 874, line 1). At this point, Youmi Cho's plan was to use the funds from her apartment sale to buy Tok Kim's Beauty Store once the money became available. (R. p. 874, lines 6-9). Now back in the United States, Youmi Cho began the process of working with her prior immigration attorney on the E-2 (investor) visa process. (R. p. 874, lines 10-17). However, Tok Kim refused to work with Youmi Cho's immigration attorney because she is a female, believing she would bring bad luck, and he refused to provide the attorney with accurate information on the business so that she could complete her work. (R. p. 874, line 18-p. 875, line 4). To satisfy her uncle, Youmi Cho switched attorneys to the attorney recommended by Tok Kim, a Mr. Andy Kim. (R. p. 875, lines 5-14). Attorney Kim testified that he believed Tok Kim first contacted him about working with Youmi Cho and later Youmi Cho hired him. (R. p. 467, line 22-p. 468, line 18). Attorney Kim spoke with Tok Kim several times during his representation of Youmi Cho to ask specific questions about the

business Youmi Cho was purchasing. (R. p. 469, line 16-p. 470, line 22). In working with Attorney Kim, Youmi Cho learned that she needed a written contract for the purchase of the Beauty Store, and Tok Kim knew about this requirement and agreed to let Attorney Kim provide the contract. (R. p. 880, line 12-p. 881, line 6 (Youmi Cho), p. 581, lines 10-13 (Tok Kim)).

Prior to finalizing the purchase, Youmi Cho, Sang Cho, and Tok Kim met at Tok Kim's home to discuss the sale, generally referred to by the parties as the "kitchen table conversation." (R. p. 537, lines 4-14). Tok Kim and Youmi Cho both testified that at the beginning of this meeting Tok Kim now told Youmi Cho that the price for the Beauty Store was \$800,000. Sang Cho spoke up, believing this price was too high, and said maybe \$500,000 was doable, to which Tok Kim got upset and Sang Cho then left the conversation and did not return. (R. p. 539, lines 17-22, p. 540, lines 21-24 (Tok Kim), p. 661, line 1-p. 662, line 1, p. 716, line 18-p. 718, line 4 (Sang Cho), p. 788, line 6-p. 790, line 20, p. 877, lines 18-23 (Youmi Cho)). The parties differ in their recollection of the final price discussed at this meeting. Tok Kim contends that the price remained at \$800,000 and required a \$250,000 down payment and three years of monthly payments. (R. p. 543, line 18-p. 544, line 3). Youmi Cho contends that after Sang Cho left the meeting, Tok Kim said he was joking about the \$800,000 purchase price as he had been drinking, and he again agreed to sell her the store for \$250,000, approximately the price of her apartment that he had originally agreed to. (R. p. 788, line 18-p. 790, line 20, p. 877, line 7-p. 878, line 13). Youmi Cho testified that nothing changed about the purchase price of the Beauty Store when she left her uncle's home that evening. (R. p. 880, lines 2-11).

Sang Cho's Role in the Beauty Store Sale

The kitchen table conversation was the only discussion about the purchase of the Beauty Store that Sang Cho was ever involved in. (R. p. 878, line 21-p. 879, line 4). He was not part of

Youmi Cho's decision to purchase the Beauty Store, and he had no role in the purchase other than ministerial because of the English language barrier, for example helping Youmi get the \$250,000 bank check. (R. p. 716, lines 14-24, p. 718, lines 5-22). Sang Cho was Kim Enterprises' manager of the Beauty Store, but he never owned an interest in Beauty Store, he was not compensated based on sales and profitability, and he was not responsible for paying store expenses. (R. p. 628, line 22-p. 629, line 13 (Tok Kim)). Tok Kim did not consult with Sang Cho on the sale of the Beauty Store.

Beauty Store Sale Finalized

On December 9, 2020, Attorney Kim emailed the unsigned Asset Purchase Agreement and Bill of Sale to Youmi Cho for execution. (R. p. 881, line 7-p. 882, line 4, pp. 1361-1374 (D. Exhibit 9)). In an email, Attorney Kim asked Youmi Cho to have Tok Kim sign both documents and return them with a copy of the cleared \$250,000 purchase check. (R. pp. 1363-64 (D. Exhibit 9)). Tok Kim was aware that Attorney Kim was drafting a contract for the purchase. (R. p. 581, lines 1-16). The unsigned Asset Purchase Agreement reflected the \$250,000 purchase price agreed to by Tok Kim and Youmi Cho. (R. p. 881, lines 3-6, p. 1366).

The Beauty Store sale was finalized on December 14, 2020, when Youmi Cho gave Tok Kim a check for \$250,000 and both parties signed the Asset Purchase Agreement and Bill of Sale in front of each other. (R. p. 883, line 18-p. 885, line 22, pp. 1322-1331 (D. Exhibits 1-3)). Tok Kim cashed the \$250,000 purchase check on December 14, 2020. (R. p. 886, line 1-p. 887, line 15, p. 1331 (D. Exhibit 3), pp. 1352-1360 (D. Exhibit 8)). Youmi Cho then provided the signed Asset Purchase Agreement, Bill of Sale, and copy of the check to Attorney Kim to process her visa application and Attorney Kim testified that he received the signed copies back on December 14,

2020, and there were no changes made to the documents other than the signatures of both parties. (R. p. 476, lines 1-24, p. 478, lines 4-12, p. 497, line 3-p. 498, line 12).

In conjunction with Kim Enterprises' sale of the Beauty Store, Tok Kim also executed an assignment of lease, landlord's consent to lease assignment, and transfer of service with Spectrum, all reflecting the similar signature of Tok Kim as on the Asset Purchase Agreement. (R. p. 640, line 24-p 641, line 16, p. 642, line 1-p. 643, line 7, p. 894, lines 10-20, p. 1332-1338 (D. Exhibits 4-6)). Tok Kim testified that he signed the landlord's consent to assignment without reading it. (R. p. 642, line 11-p. 643, line 8).

Youmi Cho does not have the original signed Asset Purchase Agreement or Bill of Sale in her possession. When asked about the whereabouts of the original signed Asset Purchase Agreement, Youmi Cho testified that she believes she provided it to the landlord at its request for the original as part of the lease transfer and that she only kept a copy. (R. p. 909, line 18-p. 910, line 3). Sang Cho likewise testified that he believes he provided the original signed Asset Purchase Agreement and Bill of sale to the landlord on Youmi Cho's behalf. (R. p. 722, line 8-p. 727, line 1).

Second Agreement - Thirty-Six Checks

After the December 2020 Beauty Store sale, around March of 2021 Tok Kim approached Youmi Cho, (R. p. 546, lines 10-14), again with the idea of purchasing two of his remaining three beauty stores, (R. p. 895, line 8-p. 898, line 23). To this end, Tok Kim pestered Youmi Cho about when she would be receiving her new checkbook and once he found out she had it, he asked her to come to his house to write checks for the other two stores. (R. p. 896, lines 8-25). Youmi Cho went to Tok Kim's house, and at first during their discussions she did not want to purchase Tok Kim's other two stores. It was only after Tok Kim told her that he had no one in the United States

he could trust, even his wife and children, and after he put extreme pressure on her that she relented and signed over thirty-six undated \$15,000 checks payable to Tok Kim. (R. p. 792, lines 20-25, p. 836, lines 2-10, p. 897, line 1-p. 899, line 11). When he was given the checks, Tok Kim laughed. (R. p. 899, lines 12-15). Youmi Cho only surmised after the fact that Tok Kim laughed because she had done what he wanted. (R. p. 899, lines 17-25). After this point, Tok Kim refused to put this second agreement in writing, and he became much harsher in his interactions with her and eventually he told her that he would not sell his two other stores to her but just add these checks onto the purchase price of the Beauty Store. (R. p. 900, line 1-p. 902, line 3).

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