THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland

Appellate Case No. 2025-000448
Case No. 2021-CP-40-05596

RECEIVED

Nov 25 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Kim Enterprises, LLC,Respondent,

v.

Youmi Cho, K&C Beauty, LLC, and Sang Cho, Appellants,

AND

Youmi Cho and K&C Beauty, LLC, Appellants,

v.

Kim Enterprises, LLC and Tok Kim, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

H. Freeman Belser (SC Bar No. 72403)
Creston W. Brown (SC Bar No. 104086)
Belser Law Firm, PA
1325 Park Street, Suite 300 (29201)
Post Office Box 96
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone (803) 929-0096
Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENTS

Appellants demonstrate strong disagreement with the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law but fail to present any basis justifying reversible error. Put simply, Appellants' arguments are nothing more than "how could the trial court not have believed my clients and have believed Kim Enterprises' representatives instead?" The answer to that question is why we have trials: for parties to put evidence into the record, whether by testimony, exhibit, or otherwise, and

for a finder of fact to weigh that evidence and make findings of fact. Then, the trial judge applies the facts to the law, and judgment is entered.

When there are diametrically dueling versions of events about key issues, as is the case here, a fact finder cannot find for both sides. The proverbial traffic light cannot be both red and green at the same time. Appellants' apparent frustration with the fact finder deeming *their* evidence not credible is not a reason to disturb Kim Enterprises' judgment. The trial process worked here as designed.

As noted above, this matter was tried non-jury by the Richland County Master in Equity. Accordingly, the finder of fact was the trial judge who also applied the facts to the law. The trial judge, after witnessing and listening to days of witness and expert testimony and viewing and considering numerous exhibits from the parties that were entered into evidence, made findings of fact and conclusions of law that must not be disturbed.

- I. The trial court properly concluded, after carefully considering and weighing the evidence at trial, that: (a) the operative sales contract between the parties was an oral contract evidenced by thirty-seven (37) written checks that had been partially performed, (b) Tok Kim did not sign the Asset Purchase Agreement, and (c) Tok Kim's signature was digitally imposed onto the Asset Purchase Agreement.**

"[R]easonable evidence supports the factual finding of the court[,]" *Hardaway Concrete*, 374 S.C. at 223, 647 S.E.2d at 491 (citing *Townes*, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 776), that: the operative sales contract between the parties was an oral contract evidenced by thirty-seven (37) written checks that had been partially performed, Tok Kim did not sign the APA, and Tok Kim's signature was digitally imposed onto the APA.

Although the appellate standard of review is whether *any evidence* reasonably supports the factual findings of the court, *Hardaway Concrete*, 374 S.C. at 223, 647 S.E. 2d at 491 (citing

Townes, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 776), the evidence presented by Kim Enterprises at trial as to these three factual matters was overwhelming.

The trial court viewed and weighed the following non-exhaustive evidence to arrive at these findings of fact. This non-exhaustive list of evidence overwhelmingly clears the “any evidence” threshold set forth in *Hardaway Concrete*.

- a. Tok Kim testified the sales price of the Broad River Store was \$800,000. (R. p. 537, Trial Tr. 122:4-8 (Tok Kim)).
- b. Tok Kim testified that the payment terms for the Broad River Store were as follows: \$250,000 up front via a check in December, (R. p. 542, Trial Tr. 127:7-10 (Tok Kim); R. p. 1331, Defendants’ Ex. 3), followed by thirty-six (36) monthly installment payments evidenced by thirty-six (36) pre-signed, undated checks of \$15,000, with the first installment to occur mid-May 2021, (R. p. 546, Trial Tr. 131:22-24 (Tok Kim); R. pp. 1256-1268, Plaintiff’s Ex. 1), and a final payment of \$10,000 after the conclusion of the thirty-six (36) monthly installment payments.
- c. Sang Cho’s text messages that corroborated Tok Kim’s testimony and undercut Youmi Cho’s testimony. (R. pp. 668-678, Trial Tr. 233:10-243:21 (Sang Cho); R. pp. 1307-1310, Plaintiff’s Ex. 2).
- d. Youmi Cho testified that she and Tok Kim exchanged the first of the thirty-six (36) pre-signed \$15,000 installment checks in mid-May 2021 (R. p. 838, Trial Tr. 379:15-17 (Youmi Cho)) and that she and Tok Kim exchanged two additional pre-signed \$15,000 installment checks for cash, and Tok Kim deposited the fourth pre-signed \$15,000 installment check into his bank account (R. p. 839, Trial Tr. 380:13-20 (Youmi Cho)). The Court concluded this course of

conduct, along with Kim Enterprises turning over the Broad River Store to K&C Beauty, constituted partial performance of the oral contract.

- e. The consistency between all parties (Tok Kim, Youmi Cho, and Sang Cho) concerning the discussion at Tok Kim's kitchen about Tok Kim's strong and forceful rebuke at the suggestion he sell the store for \$500,000 further supports Tok Kim's testimony about the \$800,000 sales price. (R. p. 537, Trial Tr. 122:15-18 (Tok Kim); R. pp. 539-540, 124:17-125:24 (Tok Kim); R. p. 541, 126:12-15 (Tok Kim); R. pp. 661-662, 226:1-227:20 (Sang Cho); R. p. 788-789, 353:24-354:22 (Youmi Cho)). If the fact finder was to believe Youmi Cho and Sang Cho, the negotiation at Tok Kim's kitchen proceeded as follows: (1) Tok Kim stated the sales price was \$800,000, (2) Sang Cho suggested the sales price should be \$500,000, (3) Tok Kim became extremely angry and yelled "Hell No" at the suggestion he discount the sales price by \$300,000 to \$500,000, and then (4) Tok Kim suddenly agreed to sell the store for \$250,000, which is half the \$500,000 number he emphatically rejected moments before. Accepting this version of events defies logic and credulity and by itself provides "reasonable evidence" to support the factual findings of the Court, *Hardaway Concrete*, 374 S.C. at 223, 647 S.E. 2d at 491 (citing *Townes*, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 776).
- f. The testimony of Youmi Cho's handwriting expert, Dr. Fenoff, further supports Tok Kim's position as opposed to Appellants. Specifically, Dr. Fenoff not only testified that he cannot opine, one way or the other, whether Tok Kim physically signed the APA, (R. pp. 1143-1144, Trial Tr. 668:19-669:4 (Roy Fenoff); R. pp. 1151-1152, 676:22-677:9 (Roy Fenoff)), but the act of cutting and pasting a signature onto a document is extremely easy to accomplish, (R. pp. 1144-1145, Trial Tr. 669:19-670:20 (Roy Fenoff)). In fact, Dr. Fenoff testified about a study recently conducted by the federal government where federal agents were able to create fake

passports and driver's licenses with publicly available software and use those fake passports and driver's licenses to successfully reenter the United States ninety-nine percent (99%) of the time. (R. pp. 1149-1150, Trial Tr. 674:12-675:10 (Roy Fenoff)).

- g. The fact finder also recognized and weighed evidence that although Tok Kim had been asking Youmi Cho for a copy of the supposed original signed APA for three years to prove its existence, Youmi Cho not only failed to provide the original signed APA, but was unable to explain any diligent efforts she undertook to locate the purported original signed APA. (R. p. 849, Trial Tr. 390:5-22 (Youmi Cho); R. pp. 889-893, 430:13-434:5 (Youmi Cho)). The finder of fact rightfully concluded that Appellants didn't look for the original signed APA because such a document doesn't exist. A reasonably curious and attentive fact finder, when presented with a dispute over the authenticity of a document, would expect that the party attempting to enforce the terms of the document would actually want to locate the document for all to see. But, if the document is a fraudulent document, a reasonably curious and attentive fact finder could conclude, as did the fact finder in this case, that the absence of any diligent effort to locate the original signed APA allows, in part, for a strong presumption of its lack of authenticity.¹

Of importance to note, the trial court, in its order, *also* addressed Youmi Cho's lack of credibility and unpersuasive attempts to explain away unconvertable facts. These few examples speak volumes as to the credibility, or lack thereof, of Youmi Cho. Youmi Cho's lack of credibility

¹ Appellants' Footnote 6 in its Initial Brief of Appellants, which appears to fault the trial court misapprehending the application of the best evidence rule in Paragraph 50 of the Order, misreads Paragraph 50. The trial court's language in that Paragraph, in conjunction with the rest of the Order, reiterate its conclusion, as the fact finder, that the absence of any diligent effort to locate the original signed APA allows, in part, for a strong presumption of its lack of authenticity. Notably, Appellants' own expert asked for the original APA for his analysis but was ignored.

allowed for the fact finder to place greater weight on Tok Kim's testimony and discount Youmi Cho's. For example,

- h. Youmi Cho's testimony that the meeting in Tok Kim's kitchen began with Tok Kim becoming extremely angry at the suggestion he sell the Broad River Store for \$500,000, then immediately agreeing to sell the store for half that amount, (R. p. 790, Trial Tr. 355:16-20 (Youmi Cho)), is illogical.
- i. Youmi Cho's testimony as to the reason she gave Tok Kim thirty-six (36) pre-signed, undated checks of \$15,000 lacks any factual support in the record. Youmi Cho testified that when she answered the initial Complaint she alleged the thirty-six (36) checks were given under duress and an undefined threat to her immigration status. (R. p. 793, Trial Tr. 358:1-15 (Youmi Cho)). But, at trial, Youmi Cho changed course and testified the thirty-six (36) pre-signed, undated checks of \$15,000 were for the purchase of two other beauty supply stores owned by Tok Kim. (R. p. 792, Trial Tr. 357:6-8 (Youmi Cho)). And, although Youmi Cho contends the purported agreement to purchase two other beauty supply stores was verbal, unlike the oral contract concerning the Broad River Store, there was no partial performance, of any kind whatsoever, concerning two of Tok Kim's other hair and beauty supply stores.

At bottom, the fact finder did not believe the testimony of Youmi Cho, which the fact finder had the right to do. The fact finder placed greater weight on the evidence put forth by Kim Enterprises. Appellants are unable to credibly assert that there is a lack of "any evidence [that] reasonably supports the factual findings of the court." *Hardaway Concrete*, 374 S.C. at 223, 647 S.E.2d at 491 (citing *Townes*, 266 S.C. at 86, 221 S.E.2d at 776). The evidence within the record as to the trial court's factual findings is substantial.

- A. ***Appellants mischaracterize the trial court's comments at the beginning of the post-trial motions hearing.***

At the *beginning* of the sixty-six (66) minute Post-Trial Motions’ hearing, Judge Strickland made comments about his recollection concerning one aspect of Youmi Cho’s testimony. After making these comments, Judge Strickland then heard over an hour of oral arguments concerning Appellants’ eleven (11) specific issues raised in the Post-Trial Motions. At the conclusion of the sixty-six (66) minute hearing, Judge Strickland stated “*Based on what I’ve heard today, the motions are denied.*” (R. p. 1251, Post Tr. Mot. Hr’g Tr. 53:20-21 (Judge Strickland)) (emphasis added). Appellants, *after* the Post-Trial Motions’ hearing, submitted a Supplemental Memorandum to the Court. The trial court, in its Order denying Appellants’ Post-Trial Motions, noted it carefully considered “the brief submitted prior to the Hearing in support of Post-Trial Motions, *a supplemental brief submitted after the Hearing*, as well as *the arguments of counsel at the Hearing*,” and ultimately denied the Post-Trial Motions. (R. p. 9, Order Denying Post-Trial Mot. at 2) (emphasis added).

Appellants’ attempts to undermine the trial court’s oral proclamation at the end of the Post-Trial Motions, as well as rewrite the trial court’s Order Denying Post-Trial Motions, must be rejected. The trial court, after carefully listening to the eleven (11) issues raised in Appellants Post-Trial Motions, rejected each and every argument, both orally and in writing.

B. Appellants fail to address the trial court order’s discussion of the meeting of the minds prerequisite to the formation of a contract.

Notably, Appellants’ discussion of contract law ignores the trial court’s analysis in its Order concerning the lack of a meeting of the minds as to the APA even if the trial court assumed the APA was authentic, which the trial court did not. The trial court opined:

Notwithstanding Tok Kim’s testimony that he did not sign the APA, Trial Tr. 139:22-24 (Tok Kim), the basic and essential elements of a contract could not, as a matter of law, have been met, *because Youmi Cho testified that she did not read the APA*. Trial Tr. 385:6-386:9 (Youmi Cho); 389:5-8 (Youmi Cho);

458:13-22 (Youmi Cho); 459:23-460:11 (Youmi Cho). Thus, there can be no intent, or meeting of the minds, between the purported parties as to the various terms of the APA. *See generally Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893-94 (1989) (citation omitted) (noting that “South Carolina common law requires that, in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement” and “[t]he ‘meeting of the minds’ required to make a contract is not based on secret purpose or intention on the part of one of the parties, stored away in his mind and not brought to the attention of the other party, but must be based on purpose and intention which has been made known or which, from all the circumstances, should be known.”). Stated differently, two parties cannot enter into a contract when either one, or both, have never read, and are unable to understand, the contract and its terms.

(R. pp. 19-20, Order ¶ 59) (emphasis added).

II. The trial court did not err when enforcing an oral contract evidenced by thirty-seven (37) written checks that had been partially performed over multiple months without incident or issue.

As an initial matter, Appellants state the incorrect standard of review in their Initial Brief of Appellants on this issue. In an action attempting to enforce an oral contract, where the non-enforcing party asserts the statute of frauds as an affirmative defense, and there has been partial performance, the appellate court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Settemeyer v. McCluney*, 359 S.C. 317, 319-22, 596 S.E.2d 514, 516-17 (Ct. App. 2004).

“To compel specific performance of an oral agreement where part performance is alleged to remove the contract from the statute of frauds, a court of equity must find: 1) clear evidence of an oral agreement; 2) the agreement had been partially executed; and 3) the party who requested performance had completed or was willing to complete his part of the oral agreement.” *Id.* at 320, 596 S.E.2d at 516. South Carolina’s statute of frauds is codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 32-3-10(5).

Here, Tok Kim testified that the payment terms for the Broad River Store were as follows: \$250,000 up front via a check in December, (R. p. 542, Trial Tr. 127:7-10 (Tok Kim); R. p. 1331,

Defendants' Ex. 3), followed by thirty-six (36) monthly installment payments evidenced by thirty-six (36) pre-signed, undated checks of \$15,000, with the first installment to occur mid-May 2021, (R. p. 546, Trial Tr. 131:22-24 (Tok Kim); R. pp. 1256-1268, Plaintiff's Ex. 1), and a final payment of \$10,000 after the conclusion of the thirty-six (36) monthly installment payments.

Youmi Cho testified that she and Tok Kim exchanged the first of the thirty-six (36) pre-signed \$15,000 installment checks in mid-May 2021, (R. p. 838, Trial Tr. 379:15-17 (Youmi Cho)), and that she and Tok Kim exchanged two more pre-signed \$15,000 installment checks for cash and Tok Kim deposited the fourth pre-signed \$15,000 installment check into his bank account, (R. p. 839, Trial Tr. 380:13-20 (Youmi Cho)). Also, Tok Kim testified that he handed over operations of the Broad River Store to Youmi Cho on March 8, 2021. (R. pp. 562-563, Trial Tr. 147:23-148:1 (Tok Kim)). The Court concluded this course of conduct constituted partial performance of the oral contract to defeat an affirmative defense of the statute of frauds.

Moreover, Defendant Sang Cho, Youmi Cho's brother, confidant, and a co-defendant in this matter, wrote in text messages to another family member, after receiving a copy of the Complaint in this matter, that: (a) the purchase price of the assets of the Broad River Store was \$800,000, (b) the sale agreement was verbal, and (c) the verbal sale agreement required a \$250,000 down payment with subsequent \$15,000 checks to follow. (R. pp. 668-678, Trial Tr. 233:10-243:21 (Sang Cho); R. pp. 1307-1310, Plaintiff's Ex. 2).

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